FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/15/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/14/2025 3:40 PM

Supreme Court No. _____ COA No. 84214-5-I Case #: 1040644

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

SHAWN SKELTON,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katehuber@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

The State sought to indefinitely confine Shawn Skelton under Chapter 71.09 RCW based on unreliable and unproven hearsay. The court permitted the State's expert to testify to extensive and detailed hearsay about an unfounded claim that Mr. Skelton twice forcibly raped his ex-girlfriend. His exgirlfriend did not testify and never reported such allegations to police. Her untested, uncorroborated out-of-court statements were inadmissible. But the court construed evidence rules for expert testimony to circumvent hearsay rules and permit consideration of these unreliable allegations.

This Court should accept review to join other supreme courts across the county in rejecting this fundamentally unfair practice and to prevent using expert testimony to evade protections against unreliable hearsay evidence.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Shawn Skelton asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review. Opinion (Feb. 18, 2025); Order Denying Reconsideration (Mar. 13, 2025). RAP 13.3(a)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Due process and the rules of evidence prohibit courts from admitting unreliable evidence at trial. Evidentiary rules that permit expert witnesses to testify about otherwise inadmissible hearsay evidence under the guise of explaining their opinions allow parties to circumvent these important constitutional and evidentiary protections. This Court should accept review to follow the lead of other states and categorically prohibit such unreliable evidence, particularly when it does not bear sufficient indicia of reliability. RAP 13.4(3)-(4).

2. Even under this Court's current caselaw interpreting expert testimony, due process and the rules of evidence prevent

courts from admitting unreliable evidence at trial and require courts to weigh the prejudicial impact of any evidence before admitting it. Here, the court permitted the State's expert to testify to extensive and detailed hearsay that Mr. Skelton twice forcibly raped his ex-girlfriend, despite its scant probative value and overwhelming undue prejudice. These out-of-court statements were not corroborated, never tested, and were unreliable. Mr. Skelton was denied a fair trial when the State's expert testified about these unreliable, unproven, and inflammatory out-of-court statements. This Court should accept review to stop the presumptive application of ER 703 and 705 to bypass hearsay rules and evade reliability concerns. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

 Washington's robust open courts doctrine protects the public's interest in accessing court proceedings and filings.
 This Court interprets article I, section 10's broad protections to prohibit redactions of names in court filings, absent satisfaction of the *Ishikawa*¹ factors and compliance with GR 15. The Court of Appeals violated these provisions and ignored this Court's precedent by sua sponte redacting the name of a witness in its opinion. RAP 13.4(1)-(4).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shawn Shelton grew up in poverty in a "very dysfunctional," chaotic, and neglectful environment. RP 1023, 1309-10. His unstable, verbally abusive mother was mentally ill and provided little supervision. RP 857-59, 1308-10. Mr. Skelton was exposed to pornography as a child and eventually became "sexually preoccupied." RP 713, 1030-31. He started exposing himself to others as a child, a behavior he continued into adulthood. RP 718-26, 745-48.

As an adult, Mr. Skelton had two long term romantic relationships, but he also engaged in anonymous sex with strangers. RP 685-92. Mr. Skelton enjoyed consensual rough

¹ Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

sex and sought willing partners through Craigslist postings or random encounters. RP 689-713. Mr. Skelton explained he was aroused by forcible oral sex where people "have a choice" and "they have chosen to participate in this." RP 1587.

In 2009, Mr. Skelton posted an advertisement on Craigslist looking for a woman who would let him have sex with her and then "kill her" as he ejaculated. Ex.6. He invited responses from "Serious inquiries only please." Ex.6. After Craigslist referred the posting to police, Detective Harry James, posing as a pimp, responded to the posting. RP 556-61, 607-10.

Although Mr. Skelton solicited a willing participant, Detective James responded to the ad by offering Mr. Skelton "a girl working for me." Ex.5. Detective James told Mr. Skelton he did not trust her and suggested Mr. Skelton use her. Ex.5; RP 610. Mr. Skelton answered, "I wrote the ad with the intention of finding a girl who actually WANTED it." Ex.5. Despite Mr. Skelton's desire to find a willing partner, he ultimately agreed to Detective James's ruse in exchange for

payment. Ex.5. When Mr. Skelton arrived at the arranged motel, police arrested him. RP 629-30.

Mr. Skelton pleaded guilty to attempted first-degree robbery and attempted second-degree assault with sexual motivation. Ex.1. He also pleaded guilty to indecent exposure with sexual motivation for an unrelated flashing incident. Ex.1. Before Mr. Skelton finished his sentence, the State moved to indefinitely confine him. CP 1-15.

The attempted assault conviction, which Mr. Skelton did not contest, served as the required first element of commitment under RCW 71.09.020(19). CP 1. The jury heard conflicting accounts of whether Mr. Skelton had a mental abnormality causing him serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior and whether he was likely to reoffend, the two remaining elements required for commitment.

Both testifying experts agreed Mr. Skelton's acts of exposing himself to others evidenced an exhibitionistic disorder. RP 986, 1174-75, 1319-20, 1456-57. However, both

doctors also agreed this nonviolent, non-contact offending behavior did not constitute a mental abnormality that caused serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior. RP 1004-06, 1380-83, 1511-16.

Dr. Teofilo admitted Mr. Skelton did not meet the "full criteria" for any other identified paraphilic disorders, but he concluded Mr. Skelton must suffer from the catchall other specified paraphilic disorder, RP 1319-23, and "a general personality" disorder of other specified personality disorder. RP 1289-93. However, Dr. Teofilo agreed other specified personality disorder also was not sufficient to satisfy this element necessary for commitment. RP 1515-16. The only condition that could potentially meet the definition of mental abnormality necessary for commitment was the contested diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder. RP 165-66.

Dr. Saleh rejected Dr. Teofilo's diagnoses, concluding the evidence was insufficient to establish them. RP 986, 993-94, 1004-05. Dr. Saleh recognized Mr. Skelton committed

illegal acts and was interested in some forcible sex acts, but the evidence established he was interested in *consensual* sexual acts. RP 1011-12. Because Mr. Skelton desired consensual acts, he did not display the underlying deviance necessary to diagnose him with a disorder that met the requirements of a mental abnormality. RP 1056, 1074-76.

To support his diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, Dr. Teofilo relied on the uncorroborated, untested statements that Mr. Skelton had twice forcibly raped his exgirlfriend, Brieehohnah Kooken, to form his opinion that Mr. Skelton met the criteria for commitment.² RP 1339-45, 1354-61, 1389-90, 1558-64, 1589-93, 1605-07, 1686-92, 1718-24, 1727-29. Mr. Skelton denied both incidents. RP 770-73, 1354-56, 1691-92, 1698-99.

² Dr. Teofilo also relied on fantasies in Mr. Skelton's journal entries, statements to an evaluator, which Mr. Skelton disputed, and Mr. Skelton's admission that he put his penis in the mouths of his sleeping girlfriends four times. RP 763-72, 1326-28, 1331-35, 1345-46, 1496-98, 1567-73.

Rather than present Ms. Kooken as a witness to testify about the disputed violent incidents and allow the jury to assess her credibility, the court, over Mr. Skelton's objection, allowed the State to introduce evidence of these alleged incidents through Dr. Teofilo. CP 163-67, 466, 545; RP 110-14. The sole source of the contested allegations was an ex parte petition Ms. Kooken filed for an order of protection. RP 1354-55.

Ms. Kooken's uncorroborated, untested statements in the petition claiming Mr. Skelton forcibly raped her were key to Dr. Teofilo's diagnosis of other specified paraphilia disorder. Ms. Kooken never reported the alleged rapes. RP 1718-20. According to Ms. Kooken's written petition, she claimed both incidents occurred within feet of other people, but she did not cry out or seek help. RP 1341-45, 1389-90. No police reports, hospital records, or other evidence corroborated the alleged incidents. RP 1354-55, 1360-61, 1718-20. The only evidence of the incidents was the petition for the order of protection, filed six years after they supposedly occurred. RP 1340-43, 1357. No criminal charges were ever brought. RP 1718-20.

After reciting Ms. Kooken's untested accusations, Dr. Teofilo explained he considered them to conclude Mr. Skelton acted on his fantasies and committed sexually violent acts and to reject Mr. Skelton's claims he was not aroused by nonconsensual sexual violence. RP 1339-45, 1354-61, 1389-90, 1558-64, 1589-93, 1606-08, 1686-92, 1718-24, 1727-29. Dr. Teofilo also used Mr. Skelton's denials of Ms. Kooken's bare allegations to reinforce his diagnoses because Mr. Skelton was unable to explain to Dr. Teofilo "why ... she would accuse you of this" if it did not actually happen. RP 1355-56, 1531-33.

Dr. Teofilo further discussed Ms. Kooken's out-of-court statements to conclude Mr. Skelton had serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. RP 1356-63, 1389-90, 1563-64. Dr. Teofilo told the jury about the alleged forcible rapes again in concluding Mr. Skelton was likely to commit future predatory crimes of sexual violence. RP 1687-92, 1697-99, 1718-24, 1753-57.

After hearing repeated evidence about the untested allegations in the order of protection petition, the jury found Mr. Skelton met the criteria for commitment, and the court confined him indefinitely. CP 676-78.

E. ARGUMENT

The court's admission of "case-specific hearsay" that Mr. Skelton forcibly raped his ex-girlfriend denied Mr. Skelton his due process right to a fair trial. The rules of evidence and Washington's greater due process protections must be interpreted to prohibit the backdoor admission of untested outof-court allegations under the guise of explaining the basis for an expert's opinion. Alternatively, an expert's testimony about out-of-court allegations from someone who does not testify must bear adequate indicia of reliability before a court should admit it. Here, Dr. Teofilo testified about Ms. Kooken's disputed statements in her petition. These statements were uncorroborated, not disclosed until six years after the alleged incidents, never reported to the police, and not prosecuted. These untested out-of-court accusations were too unreliable to be admitted for any purpose, and the prejudicial effect of this highly inflammatory evidence far outweighed any minimal probative value.

This Court should accept review to join other states in prohibiting the use of expert testimony as a vehicle to evade evidentiary rules and admit this sort of unreliable evidence. The Court should declare such evidence categorically inadmissible. Alternatively, the Court should hold such evidence may not be admitted without sufficient indicia of reliability and a careful prejudice analysis. Under either standard, its admission was improper here.

- 1. This Court should accept review to adopt a categorical rule prohibiting the use of expert testimony as an end-run around evidentiary rules designed to ensure reliability.
 - a. <u>Washington's heightened due process protections and</u> <u>evidentiary rules guard against the admission of</u> <u>unreliable evidence.</u>

Involuntary civil confinement is a massive curtailment of the fundamental right to liberty. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979). Such a "significant deprivation of liberty" triggers strict due process protections. *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 731, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art, I, § 3. For civil commitment to satisfy due process, it must be predicated on a narrowly tailored statutory scheme that ensures the individual is currently both mentally ill and dangerous. *In re Det. of Albrecht*, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002).

The massive curtailment of liberty at stake for a person facing indefinite confinement under RCW 71.09 compels heightened procedural protections to safeguard a full and meaningful opportunity to defend against the allegations.

Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 80, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L.
Ed. 2d 437 (1992); In re Det. of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 47-49, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). The due process protections mandated to safeguard against this significant liberty deprivation demand only reliable evidence form the basis of commitment.
"[R]eliability is the linchpin" in determining the admissibility of evidence under the Due Process Clause. Manson v.
Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1977). Where evidence is not reliable, it is inadmissible. Id.

Article I, section 3 provides even greater protection against the admission of unreliable evidence than the Fourteenth Amendment. *State v. Bartholomew*, 101 Wn.2d 631, 639-40, 683 P.2d 1079 (1984) (invalidating sentencing statute permitting evidence without regard to reliability). Washington "deem[s] particularly offensive to the concept of fairness a proceeding in which evidence is allowed which lacks reliability." *Id.* at 640. This Court reaffirmed article I, section 3's primacy in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 181 n.9, 481 P.3d 521 (2021), and *State v. Clark*, 143 Wn.2d 731, 778, 24P.3d 1006 (2001).

Just as the use of unreliable, uncharged allegations at a sentencing hearing violates article I, section 3, as in *Bartholomew*, the use of unreliable, uncharged allegations at an involuntary commitment trial violates article I, section 3. 101 Wn.2d at 639-40. Courts must interpret the rules of evidence consistent with Washington's greater concern for the reliability guarantees of the Due Process Clause and decide admissibility issues accordingly. Here, this Court should apply those greater protections to prohibit the use of expert opinion testimony to serve as an end-run around inadmissible hearsay.

> b. <u>Admitting untested, unreliable accusations under the</u> <u>guise of explaining an expert's opinion violates the</u> <u>Due Process Clause and the rules of evidence.</u>

"Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Evidentiary rules preclude the introduction of hearsay statements that do not fall under an exception as insufficiently reliable. ER 801-04; *see Hemphil v. New York*, 595 U.S. 140, 155, 142 S. Ct. 681, 211 L. Ed. 2d 534 (2022).

Here, the State used evidentiary rules governing expert opinion testimony to evade the hearsay rules. ER 703 allows experts to base their opinions on data "reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject," even if the underlying data is not itself admissible. ER 702 permits experts to testify to their opinion when it will assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. And ER 705 provides that courts may allow experts to disclose the underlying facts on which they relied to form their opinion. When those underlying facts are not otherwise admissible, the rules of evidence governing expert testimony conflict with the rules of evidence governing hearsay prohibitions.

Although experts may rely on inadmissible evidence to form their opinions, "Experts should not act as funnels to allow

lawyers to get into evidence through their expert opinion what is otherwise inadmissible." *In re Det. of Coe*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 516, 286 P.3d 29 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring). That is precisely what occurred here.

Dr. Teofilo diagnosed Mr. Skelton with other specified paraphilia disorder based on Ms. Kooken's allegations of forcible rapes described in an ex parte petition for a no-contact order. Dr. Teofilo relied on the alleged forcible rapes to conclude Mr. Skelton was aroused by nonconsensual sexual violence. He also used it to discredit Mr. Skelton's statements he was not aroused by nonconsensual sexual acts. Ms. Kooken's out-of-court accusations were crucial to Dr. Teofilo's opinion. And in explaining his opinion to the jury, he repeated Ms. Kooken's out-of-court, unproven, allegations.

The court instructed the jury it could use these out-ofcourt statements "only in deciding what credibility and weight" the jury should give Dr. Teofilo's opinions, but that it "may not consider it as evidence that the information relied upon by Mr.

Teofilo is true or that the events described actually occurred." RP 1799; WPIC 365.03.³ However, as other courts have recognized, jurors cannot follow this instruction and cabin "case-specific hearsay" evidence. In addition, such out-of-court evidence is relevant *only* if it true, undercutting the instruction. This Court should follow the lead of other states and categorically prohibit the introduction of such evidence.

For example, California has revised its standards for admissibility to exclude "case-specific hearsay" offered through experts to ensure fair trials. The California Supreme Court recognizes that when the validity of an expert's opinion depends on the truth of the inadmissible evidence on which they rely, that evidence *is* being admitted for the truth of the matter, contrary to the legal fiction the evidence rules try to

³ The court gave similar instructions preceding Dr. Saleh's testimony and in closing instructions. RP 1050, 2413-14; CP 666; WPIC 365.04.

construct. *People v. Sanchez*, 63 Cal.4th 665, 374 P.3d 320

(2016).

When an expert relies on hearsay to provide casespecific facts, considers the statements as true, and relates them to the jury as a reliable basis for the expert's opinion, it cannot logically be asserted that the hearsay content is not offered for its truth.

Id. Instead, such testimony improperly conveys to the jury the expert's opinion is valid because the hearsay content is actually true. *Id.* at 683-84.

To avoid jurors relying on out-of-court allegations, experts may explain only the general "type or source of the matter relied upon as opposed to presenting, as fact, casespecific hearsay that does not otherwise fall under a statutory exception." *Id.* at 686.⁴ This is true in sexual commitment proceedings as well as criminal trials.

⁴ *Sanchez* excluded the "case-specific statements" as inadmissible unreliable hearsay. It separately ruled some of the hearsay statements were also prohibited by the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 685-94.

For example, in *Walker v. Superior Court*, the State offered two expert evaluations to support a petition for civil commitment. 12 Cal.5th 177, 494 P.3d 2 (2021). One evaluator relied on allegations in a probation report and police affidavit about sexual misconduct even though the individual was not convicted of these crimes. *Id.* at 186. The California Supreme Court held the trial court erred when it admitted and relied on these "case-specific hearsay facts" to find probable cause to detain Mr. Walker for a commitment trial. *Id.* at 192-94.

California has applied the same principles to preclude the introduction of out-of-court statements through experts at commitment trials, as well as probable cause hearings. *People v. Yates*, 25 Cal. App. 5th 474, 476 (Ct. of Appeal 2018). In *Yates*, experts relied on allegations contained in inadmissible records when reaching their opinions. *Id.* at 479. Both experts recited details about forcible rape allegations contained in those records. *Id.* at 479-81. The appellate court reversed. It held

that although experts may rely on hearsay in forming their opinions, they may not recite "case-specific hearsay" facts to the jury unless it is "subject to a hearsay exception" or "independently established by competent evidence." *Id.* at 482-85. Because the inadmissible hearsay the expert relayed to the jury was "unquestionably prejudicial," the court reversed the commitment and remanded for a new trial. *Id.* at 486.⁵

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