FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/22/2025 1:27 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1040644 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 84214-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

SHAWN SKELTON,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

NAMI KIM Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> W400 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1858

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

a. This Court Should Decline to Overturn Its Own Precedent and "Adopt" California Evidence Rules.

The admissibility of expert testimony is governed by ER 703 and ER 705, which read as follows:

ER 703 BASES OF OPINION TESTIMONY BY EXPERTS

The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.

ER 705 DISCLOSURE OF FACTS OR DATA UNDERLYING EXPERT OPINION

The expert may testify in terms of opinion or inference and give reasons therefor without prior disclosure of the *underlying facts or data*, unless the judge requires otherwise. The expert may in any event be required to *disclose the underlying facts or data* on cross examination.

(emphasis added). The plain language of ER 705 grants a court discretion to permit experts to disclose the facts on which their opinion is based, or render them subject to cross-examination.

It is well-settled by this Court that under this plain language, an expert witness may testify about facts or data supporting their opinion that would otherwise be inadmissible, provided that the facts or data comprise the type of information reasonably relied upon by experts in the relevant field. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 73-74, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

The Court of Appeals correctly invoked this Court's binding authority on the matter in two prior SVP cases. *See In*

re Det. of Marshall v. State, 156 Wn.2d 1150, 163, 125 P.3d 111 (2005) (holding that ER 705 "grants the court discretion to allow the expert to relate hearsay or otherwise inadmissible evidence to the trier of fact to explain the reasons for his or her expert opinion, subject to appropriate limiting instructions); *In re Det.* of Coe, 175 Wn.2d 482, 512-13, 286 P.3d 29 (2012) (holding that "an expert can rely on inadmissible hearsay" and "relate the inadmissible hearsay to the jury so long as she [is] merely explaining the underlying basis for her expert opinion").

The Court of Appeals also correctly recognized that Skelton's reliance on *Smith v. Arizona*, 62 U.S. 779, 144 S. Ct. 1785, 219 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2024), like his reliance on other Confrontation Clause cases, is unavailing because SVP cases are not criminal. SVP proceedings are "resolutely civil in nature." *In re Det. of Reyes*, 184 Wn.2d 340, 347, 358 P.3d 394 (2015). Thus, the Sixth Amendment does not apply here. *In re Det. of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 369, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). Moreover, as noted at oral argument, *Smith* arises from a line of cases that

involve one lab analyst essentially substituting in for another in a criminal case.⁶ This is a far cry from the circumstances here, where a forensic expert relied on "25-27 datapoints" from thousands of pages to form his own psychological opinion.

Stare decisis precluded Skelton from requesting that the Court of Appeals upend precedent on ER 705. *State v. Gore*, 101 Wn.2d 481, 487, 681 P.2d 227, 231 (1984); *State v. Putman*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 36, 43, 504 P.3d 868 (2022) (an appellant's disagreement with Supreme Court precedent does not permit Court of Appeals to depart from it). Yet, just as Skelton asked the Court of Appeals to adopt a "revised standard" and "follow California's lead," without reference to the principles of stare decisis or binding precedent, so does he now ask this Court to upend its own precedent without engaging in the required analysis. App. Br. 22, 28, 30; Pet. 18.

⁶ Wash. Ct. of Appeals oral argument, In re the Detention of Shawn Skelton, No. 82414-5-I (November 8, 2024) at 17 min., 4 sec. through 17 min., 24 sec., video recording by TVW, Washington State's Public Affairs Network.

It is well-settled that this Court will abandon its own precedent only upon a clear showing that its prior decision is both incorrect and harmful. *See State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). Skelton has never addressed this formidable standard, which accords with the judicial philosophy that "we do not lightly set aside precedent." *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 290, 505 P.3d 529 (2022).

Moreover, as noted in the State's Statement of Additional Authorities to the Court of Appeals, this Court does not "revise" or replace evidence rules (or any court rules) by judicial opinion. To the contrary, this Court recently reiterated that "the proper path to change [a court rule] is through the normal rule making process, not through overruling precedent to accommodate the change. 'Foisting the rule upon courts and parties by judicial fiat could lead to unforeseen consequences." *In re Det. of McHatton*, 197 Wn.2d 565, 572, 485 P.3d 322 (2021) (internal citation omitted).

This makes sense, as the reach of ER 703 and 705 far exceed the scope of an SVP case. As this Court said in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 751-52, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013), while judicial opinions "focus on the case, facts, and parties at hand . . . the rule making process allows all concerned stakeholders to provide input on any proposed change to a rule or its interpretation." The party requesting a rule change "bears the burden of overcoming our reluctance to reform rules practice through judicial interpretation rather than rule making." *Id.* at 750. Skelton does not acknowledge, much less meet, this burden.

Finally, Skelton's rationale for this proposed rule change – that juries cannot follow instructions – is simply untenable. It has long been axiomatic that juries are presumed to have followed a trial court's instructions, absent evidence proving the contrary. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

This is true even in instances of serious trial irregularity such as a prosecutor's "grievous" and "remarkable

misstatement" of a "bedrock principle of the presumption of innocence" during closing argument. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27-28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) (misstatement was nonetheless cured by the court's curative instruction).

As this Court stated aptly in *Kirkman*: "Only with the greatest reluctance and with clearest cause should judges—particularly those on appellate courts—consider second-guessing jury determinations or jury competence . . . 'Juries are not leaves swayed by every breath.'" 159 Wn.2d 918 at 938 (internal citations omitted).

In *Coe*, this Court affirmed a trial court ruling allowing the State to convey to the jury the details of 20 unadjudicated violent rapes pursuant to ER 705 in an SVP case: "The trial court need only give an appropriate limiting instruction explaining that the jury is not to consider this revealed information as substantive evidence." 175 Wn.2d at 513-14. Like Skelton, Coe had "challenge[d] the idea that a limiting instruction could ever prevent a jury from considering the disclosed facts as evidence,"

arguing that "given the sheer amount of evidence" of Coe's inadmissible rapes, "the likelihood that the jury would maintain this distinction and disregard the underlying information for its truth seems remote." 175 Wn.2d at 514. Reiterating "the people's ultimate control . . . in the judiciary" *Coe* definitively rejected this contention: "The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions." 175 Wn.2d at 514.

Agreeing to simply "join other supreme courts" in changing ER 703 and ER 705 and declaring that a jury's ability to follow instructions is merely "a legal fiction" would have farreaching consequences. Pet. 1. It would most certainly erode the continued viability of the ER 404(b) doctrine (which also requires a limiting instruction to curb the prejudice of substantively admitted prior bad acts). This Court should deny review.

b. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found That the Trial Court Did Not "Automatically" Permit Dr. Teofilo to Reference Case-Specific Hearsay.

Skelton argued that the trial court committed error by not conducting an ER 403 analysis of B.K.'s allegations of rape, despite the fact that he made no request for one. While the Court of Appeals did not reach the decision of whether he waived this claim,⁷ it correctly held that the record supported a finding that the trial court did, in fact, weight the probative value of B.K.'s allegations against its potential prejudice. Skelton claims that this decision conflicts with other decisions in this Court and/or other divisions, yet cites to no such Washington cases, only to

⁷ The State does not believe that review is warranted. However, if review is granted, the State maintains that: (1) Skelton waived any ER 403 claim, and (2) Skelton never raised an argument at trial that Washington should adopt New York's interpretation of the expert hearsay rule and cannot do so for the first time on appeal. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 926 (appellate courts generally will not consider an issue that is raised for the first time on appeal).

foreign jurisdictions such as New York. Review is thus unwarranted.

Skelton inaccurately presents the lower courts and the State as advocating that ER 705 should "automatically allow experts to testify to the inadmissible hearsay evidence informing their opinions." Pet. 28. Urging this Court to grant review, he claims that "courts treat *Marshall* and *Coe* as *mandating* the admission of hearsay to explain an expert's opinion, without considering reliability or prejudice." *Id*.

Skelton's far-reaching claim is squarely rebutted by the written and oral record. At oral argument, the Court of Appeals flatly rejected his characterization of a pro forma trial court, noting, "There was no compulsion of 'automatic wholesale admission' of [ER 705] evidence. [B.K.'s protection order] was discussed by the trial court, the trial court evaluated it, looked at the Washington caselaw, and did what the Supreme Court has

clearly said he should do."⁸ The State also agreed that it was "certainly not" the case that *Marshall* and *Coe* stood for the proposition that "the trial court judge can just kind of take the afternoon off and just let it all in."⁹

Skelton points to no authority mandating that the court conduct an express ER 403 balancing test for hearsay underlying an expert's testimony, independent of any party's request to do so. *Compare State v. Arredondo*, 188 Wn.2d 244, 257, 394 P.3d 348, 355 (2017) (ER 404(b) analysis must be conducted on the record). To the extent this Court finds such a requirement, the Court of Appeals correctly held that by permitting Dr. Teofilo to reference B.K.'s allegations and relay that they were made under oath, yet prohibiting him from testifying that the order had been

⁸ Wash. Ct. of Appeals oral argument, *In re the Detention of Shawn Skelton*, No. 82414-5-I (November 8, 2024) at 3 min., 52 sec. through 4 min., 5 sec., video recording by TVW, Washington State's Public Affairs Network.

⁹ *Id.* at 9 min., 14 sec. through 9 min., 56 sec.

granted, the record reflected the court's exercise of that discretion. 10

c. Skelton Fails to Establish That Admission of Case-Specific Hearsay Under ER 703 and 705 Creates a Constitutional Issue.

Skelton asserts that the rules of evidence and Washington's greater due process protections "must be interpreted" to follow recent California State Supreme Court cases that categorically prohibit all experts from referencing "case-specific hearsay." Pet. 11. This claim fails.

As the Court of Appeals correctly stated several times in its opinion, the cases cited by Skelton are limited to their facts and do not broadly support a claim to a constitutional right to limit expert testimony in SVP civil cases. Slip op. 9-12. *See*, *e.g.*, *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S. Ct. 2243 L.

¹⁰ A trial court's failure to articulate its balancing process in an ER 404(b) analysis is harmless where "the record as a whole is sufficient to allow effective appellate review of the trial court's decision." *Doe v. Corp. of President of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 141 Wn. App. 407, 436-37, 167 P.3d 1193 (2007).

Ed. 240 (1977) (holding that "reliability is the linchpin" when analyzing suggestive lineup evidence as *substantive evidence of guilt* in a criminal case); *State v. Bartholomew*, 101 Wn.2d 631, 638-39, 683 P.2d 1079 (1984) (invalidating former statute allowing evidence of unadjudicated conduct as *substantive evidence* to be considered at death penalty phase, "regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence."). None of these cases pronounce a generalized "reliability" test that applies to the hearsay underpinning an expert's testimony in an SVP trial. This claim therefore does not merit review.

2. NO COURT CLOSURE OCCURRED.

In his motion to reconsider below, Skelton characterized the Court of Appeals' use of B.K.'s initials in its unpublished opinion as a "redaction" of the record and an "unjustified sealing" implicating GR 15 and his right to open courts under article I, section 10. Pet. 29-32. This argument has already been plainly rejected by the courts. *See State v. Mansour*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 323, 333, 470 P.3d 543 (2020), *rev. denied*, 196

Wn.2d 1040 (2021); *State v. Delgado*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 583, rev. denied, 2 Wn.3d 1032 (2024).¹¹

Mansour flatly disagreed that a trial court's "use of [victims'] initials, instead of [a] full name" in jury instructions or other court documents "amounted to a court closure in violation of Mansour's right to a public trial." 14 Wn. App. 2d at 328. Citing this Court's recognition of two types of courtroom closure — a courtroom "completely and purposefully closed to spectators" or "a portion of a trial . . . held someplace 'inaccessible' to spectators" — Mansour noted that Mansour's victim had been "consistently referred to by her full name

¹¹ This Court and all divisions of the Court of Appeals generally use initials when referring to adult victims of sex crimes. ¹¹ *E.g.*, *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 299 n.2, 325 P.3d 135, 136 (2014) (using adult victim's initials "to protect her privacy"). In addition, Division One recently adopted a general order *requiring* the use of initials for all victims of sexual misconduct in both pleadings and opinions. General Order In Re: Use of Initials to Identify Victims and Child Witnesses (May 16, 2025). Divisions Two and Three have similar general orders requiring the use of initials or pseudonyms for child sex offense victims.

throughout the proceedings." *Id.* at 333 (quoting *State v. Love*, 183 Wn.2d 598, 606, 354 P.3d 841 (2015). Her full name was thus "fully accessible to spectators and open to any member of the public who appeared in court or read a transcript of the court proceedings." *Mansour*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 333.

Under such circumstances, "no closure occurred, and thus, no *Ishikawa* analysis was required." *Id. Mansour* further distinguished these circumstances from those present in the cases now cited by Skelton, which involve attempts to "alter an *existing* court record by *replacing* [people's] full names with their initials" and a statute that prevented victims' names from being "disclosed to the public or press *during the course of judicial proceedings or in any court records.*" *Id.* (emphases in original) (citing *John Doe G. v. Dep't of Corr.*, 190 Wn.2d 185, 202, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018); *Allied Daily Newpapers of Washington v. Eikenberry*, 121 Wn.2d 205, 209, 848 P.2d 1258 (1993)).

In the present case, there was no attempt to alter the existing trial court record by using B.K's initials or to obscure her full name during the trial proceedings. Nor was any redaction or pseudonym applied to B.K.'s full name during the trial proceedings in violation of GR 15, as occurred in *John Does 1, 2, 4, and 5 v. Seattle Police Dep't*, __ Wn.3d __, 563 P.3d 1037, 1054 (2025).

As Skelton acknowledges in his petition, B.K.'s full name was used "throughout every phase of every proceeding in the trial court and on appeal." Pet. 30. Thus, like the victim in *Mansour*, B.K.'s full name remains "fully accessible to spectators and open to any member of the public who appeared in court or read a transcript of the court proceedings." 13 Wn. App. 2d at 333. No court closure occurred, and no *Ishikawa* analysis applies. Skelton fails to meet criteria for review.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.

This document contains 5,000 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 22nd day of May, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

NAMI KIM, WSBA #36633

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

KING COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY SVP UNIT

May 22, 2025 - 1:27 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 104,064-4

Appellate Court Case Title: In the Matter of the Detention of Shawn T. Skelton

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